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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

JEREMIAH D. JOHNSON, 1 
1 

Petitioner, ) 
) 

vs. ) 
) 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 1 
1 

Respondent. ) 

CASE NO. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

The petitioner, JEREMIAH D. JOHNSON, move to suppress drugs found in his car 

and on his person. State v. Johnson, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1392 (Fla. 5th DCA June 6 ,  1997) 

(on second motion for rehearing). The facts presented at a hearing on the motion to suppress 

revealed that police officers, riding bicycles approached a parked vehicle in a parking garage, 

in which Johnson was the driver and Ryan was a passenger. Id. As the officers rode toward 

the vehicle, Johnson, Ryan, and another passenger exited the vehicle. Officer Berry 

approached Ryan and asked if he could speak to him, to which Ryan agreed. As Ryan walked 

toward the policeman, he placed his hands in his pockets. Id. Berry “asked” Ryan to remove 

his hands from his pockets while he was talking to him. Id, After inquiring why, and being 

told that it was for safety reasons, Ryan stated, “Sure, I’ll empty the contents of my pockets,” 

and pulled a package of marijuana from his pocket, which he handed to Officer Berry. Id. 

The officer arrested Ryan, and, while the other occupants of the vehicle, including 
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Johnson, waited near the rear of the vehicle, police searched the car. They discovered 

additional drugs in the glove compartment, and, after determining that the car belonged to the 

petitioner, arrested him. A further search of Johnson’s person uncovered more drugs in his 

pocket. Id. Based on these facts, the trial court ordered the drugs suppressed, ruling that the 

arrest of the former passenger did not support a search of the vacated automobile. Id. The 

state appealed the ruling to the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District. 

The District Court of Appeal, having trouble making up its mind on the suppression, 

issued three different opinions, two reversing the trial court’s order of suppression by finding 

that the seizure was consensual; State v. Johnson, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1909 (Fla. 5th DCA 

August 23, 1996)(hereinafter Johnson I ) ;  State v. Johnson, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1392 (Fla. 

5th DCA June 6, 1997)(Johnson ZII); and the middle opinion, affirming the suppression, 

finding that Ryan was submitting to the officer’s show of authority, and hence the seizure was 

not consensual and was unconstitutionally obtained. State v. Johnson, 21 Fla. L. Weekly 

D2589 (Fla. 5th DCA December 6 ,  1996)(Johnson 10. 

The third opinion’s majority relied solely on general language in Florida v. Bostick, 

501 U.S. 429 (1991), for the proposition that, even though a police officer has no basis for 

suspecting an individual, he may not only request that the individual talk to him but may also 

request such person to submit to a search so long as the officer does not convey a message that 

compliance with the request is required. Johnson ZII,  22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1393. See also 

Johnson I ,  21 Fla. L. Weekly at D1909 (“This merely requires an analysis under Florida v. 

Bostick.”). The dissent in Johnson ZZI, supra, refused to take this approach of looking only at 

the general language from Bostick, supra; rather, the dissent looks at the question of whether 
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the individual is seized (i .e.  , not free to end the encounter and depart), and whether the 

“direction” of the officer to comply with his request constituted a show of authority “which a 

reasonable person under the circumstances would believe that he should comply. ” Popple v. 

State, 626 So.2d 185, 187 (Fla. 1993). 

Regardless, the majority opinion in the instant case rules, the determining factor of 

whether the seizure was voluntary depends solely on how the officer’s direction is 

characterized: whether it is merely a question (in which case the relinquishment of the 

evidence is then necessarily voluntary) or whether the officer phrased his discussion with the 

citizen as an order (in which case the discovery is a nonconsensual seizure). Johnson IZI, 22 

Fla. L. Weekly at D1392-1393. The dissent, citing to authority from other district courts 

contrary to the majority holding, notes, however, that Popple clearly holds that it does not 

matter how the officer’s direction is classified, whether it is a question, order, direction, or 

request; rather the test is one of a reasonable person believing he should comply with an 

apparent show of authority. State v. Johnson ZZZ, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1393. 

The dissent, relying on the language of Popple, and a multitude of other cases to 

determine that, while the initial encounter may have been consensual, it did not remain so once 

the officer directed Ryan to remove his hands from his pockets since, once submitting to the 

authority of the officer, he was then unlawfully seized, Johnson ZIZ, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at 

D1393 (Thompson, J.,  dissenting). 

The petitioner’s motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc from this third opinion was 

denied on July 11, 1997. The defendant filed his Notice to Invoke the Discretionary 

Jurisdiction of this Court on August 18, 1997. This brief on jurisdiction follows. 

3 



SUMMARY 0 F ARGUMEN T 

The decision of the district court directly and expressly conflicts with decisions of this 

Court and other district courts of appeal on the same issue of law. The appellate court, in 

reversing the trial court’s order of suppression, ruled contrary to this Court’s ruling in Popple 

v. State, 626 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1993), that, for an analysis of whether the defendant voluntarily 

consented to the search and seizure, it does not matter whether the police characterize their 

discussion with the defendant as a “request” or an “order;” rather the test is whether “the 

direction . . . constituted a show of authority which . . . a reasonable person under the 

circumstances would believe that he should comply. ” Id. at 187-188. Additionally, as pointed 

out in the dissenting opinion, the majority decision in the instant case is contrary to numerous 

decisions of other district courts of appeal. 
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ARGUMENT 

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF 
APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, IN STATE V. JOHNSON, 
22 Fla. L. Weekly D1392 (Fla. 5th DCA June 6 ,  1997), 
EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH 

DA AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL. 
DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORI- 

The opinion of the Fifth District in the instant case reversed the order of suppression of 

the trial court on the grounds that since the police officer characterized his discussion with 

Ryan as a mere request rather than an order, the seizure was voluntary and consensual. This 

holding expressly and directly conflicts with cases from this Court and other district courts 

which specifically rule that it does not matter how it is characterized by the police, but rather 

must be looked at from the standpoint of whether the direction constituted a show of authority 

which a reasonable person under the circumstances would believe that he should comply. 

The district court’s refusal to consider the effect which the direction had on a 

reasonable person allows the police to characterize their encounter any way they desire in 

order to acquire a favorable ruling, to the certain detriment of the citizen, and flies in the face 

of established precedent. This Court, by accepting jurisdiction in this case, has the 

opportunity to affirm the protections afforded citizens by the Florida and federal constitutions 

as stated in Popple v. State, 626 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1993), and protect citizens against those 

overzealous police officers, who show apparent authority in order to dupe defendants into 

“consenting” to a search or seizure. Additionally, the petitioner submits that (in part because 

the case has had three differing opinions) submits that if the three-judge panel of the district 

court could not make up its mind (it issued three differing opinions in the single appeal) and 
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come to a consensus as to the issue of acquiescence to an apparent show of authority versus a 

voluntary relinquishment of the contraband, how can a private citizen ascertain the difference 

when confronted with a police officer’s “request?” As a result, this is a matter which should 

be rectified by this Honorable Court. 

The holding of the fifth district is essentially that it is a consensual search and seizure if 

the police say it is. State v. Johnson, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1392 (Fla. 5th DCA June 6, 1997). 

See also State v. Johnson, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1909 (Fla. 5th DCA August 23, 1996). This 

holding directly and expressly conflicts with Popple v. State, 626 So.2d 185, 187 (Fla. 1993), 

that the question here is whether the individual is seized (i.e., not free to end the encounter and 

depart), and whether the “direction” of the officer to comply with his request constituted a 

show of authority “which a reasonable person under the circumstances would believe that he 

should comply. ” 

The majority attempts to distinguish Popple while the dissent relies on it and other 

cases which deal with precisely the issue present here. The majority faults the Popple decision 

claiming that “because of the limited facts given in Popple, we cannot tell whether the officer 

‘asked,’ ‘directed,’ ‘ordered,’ or ‘requested’ Popple to exit the vehicle. ” State v. Johnson, 22 

Fla. L. Weekly at D1392. However, the majority had just quoted from Popple and had even 

added emphasis to language (which it then proceeded to somehow overlook) which clearly 

holds that it does not matter how the officer’s direction is classified, whether it is a question, 

order, direction, or request: 

Whether characterized as a request or an order, we 
conclude that Deputy Wilmoth’s direction for Popple to exit 
his vehicle constituted a show of authority which . . . a 
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reasonable person under the circumstances would believe that 
he should comply. 

Popple v. State, supra at 187-188 (emphasis added), quoted in State v. Johnson, 22 Fla. L. 

Weekly at D1392. Thus, the majority’s concern is not at all relevant to this discussion. It 

does not matter whether the facts in Popple revealed a request or an order, this Court has said 

so; the focus must be on whether a reasonable citizen would believe he must comply, not how 

the officer characterized his direction. 

The dissent, on the other hand, refuses to follow the simplistic approach and instead 

correctly analyzes the situation and the language of Popple and a multitude of other cases to 

determine that, while the initial encounter may have been consensual, it did not remain so once 

the officer directed Ryan to remove his hands from his pockets since, once submitting to the 

authority of the officer, he was then unlawfully seized. The dissent correctly points out what 

the majority overlooked, misconstrued, or ignored: this Court and others have determined, 

based upon the totality of the circumstances, that a seizure occurs when an officer directs a 

J 

person to remove his hands from his pockets and that person reasonably believes he must 

submit to that authority, rather than simply on how the “request” was characterized. Doney v. 

State, 648 So.2d 799, 801 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (holding that compliance with officer’s request 

that defendant spit out contents of his mouth was acquiescence to authority, rather than 

consent); Palmer v. State, 625 So.2d 1303 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (holding that abandonment of 

a razor blade was product of illegal stop and thus involuntary because seizure occurred when 

officer told defendant to take his hands out of his pockets); Johnson v. State, 610 So.2d 581 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (holding that seizure occurred when officer told Johnson to remove his 
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hands from his pockets and turn around so that officer could get good look at him); Dees v. 

State, 564 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (seizure occurred when officer directed defendant 

to exit vehicle and remove hand from pocket); Evans v. State, 546 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 

1989) (when an officer asks a defendant to remove his hands from his pocket for the officer’s 

safety, a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would not believe he was free to go). 

See also Mayhue v. State, 659 So.2d 417, 418 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (“When the officer 

ordered Mayhue to open his hand, however, the consensual encounter became an investigatory 

stop.”); Canion v. State, 550 So.2d 562 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (Where deputy sheriff 

demanded, without founded suspicion, that defendant remove his hand from his pocket, “mere 

encounter” between deputy sheriff and defendant escalated to temporary unlawful detention 

and evidence seized as result of such detention was inadmissible). 

While many of these cases characterized the officer’s actions as an order, as the dissent 

correctly notes, Popple v. State, supra at 188, directs that this is not a determining factor; a 

request may constitute a seizure if the act of directing the person to remove his hands 

“constituted a show of authority which restrained [appellant’s] freedom of movement because a 

reasonable person under the circumstances would believe that he should comply. ” 

The required “totality of the circumstances” test can cause only one conclusion here: 

Ryan, and a reasonable person, would conclude that he was not free to end the encounter, the 

“request” to remove his hands from his pocket constituted an unlawful show of authority 

causing the reasonable person to believe he should comply. 

Whether the officer’s directive is characterized as a request or 
an order, the result is the same; Ryan submitted to the 
authority of the officer. Ryan was given a Hobson’s choice: 
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obey the officer and remove his hands, or disobey the officer 
and possibly suffer dire consequences. Since the officer 
testified that his request was predicated upon his concern for 
his safety, Ryan was left with no alternative. We can only 
speculate what might have occurred if Ryan had not complied. 
Ryan’s response to the officer, “Sure, I’ll empty the contents 
of my pockets,” makes it obvious he did not feel that he could 
refuse. Perhaps he misunderstood the officer or was nervous. 
Regardless , he complied because of the officer’s 
communication. I am mindful that officers need to be careful 
of citizens who may be armed, but an officer’s concern for his 
safety is not a basis to violate a citizen’s Fourth Amendment 
rights. Based upon the prior rulings of this court and Ryan’s 
response, I would affirm the order suppressing the evidence 
because it was obtained as a result of a seizure made in 
violation of Ryan’s Fourth Amendment rights. 

State v. Johnson, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1393-1394 (Thompson, J., dissenting). 

This Court’s discretionary review should be exercised and the decision of the Fifth 

District Court of Appeal reversed. 
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2,s Fla, L, Weekly D1392 DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL 

‘reverse this award of attorney’s fees made after final judgment. 
HAiNES v. STATE:. 4th District. #96-1949. June 4,  1997. Appeal from the 
Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County. AF- 
FIRMED. See Srure v .  Brigham, No. 96-01837 (Fla. 2d DCA May 7, 1997) [22 
Fla. L. Weekly D1174aJ. 

* * *  
Criminal law-Search and seizure-Vehicle-Where officer 
made lawful custodial arrest of former passenger of vehicle, he 
was permitted to search passenger compartment of vehicle as 
:ontemporaneous incident of that arrest-Fact that passenger 
lad stepped out of vehicle as officer approached does not inval- 
date search of vehicle-Consensual encounter between officer 
md former passenger not converted to seizure by officer’s asking 
f passenger wauld mind removing his hands from his pockets 
while officer was talking to him-Error to grant motion to s u p  
?re= illegal drugs found in vehicle in search conducted after 
mssenger was arrested for possession of cannabis which was 
iiscovered when passenger voluntarily emptied contents of his 
lockets-Error to grant motion to suppress drugs found on 
wrson of defeendant/vehicle owner in search conducted after 
lrugs were found En glove compartment oKvehicle 
;TATE OF FLORIDA, Appellant, v. JEREMIAH JOHNSON, Appellee. 5th 
Iistrict. Case No. 95-1943. Opinion filed June 6, 1997. Appeal from the Cir- 
uit Court for Orange County, Theotis Bronson, Judge. Counsel: Roben A. 
:utterwonh. Attorney General, Tallahassee, and Barbara Arlene Fink, and 
)avid H.  Foxman, Assistant Attorney Generals, Daytona Beach, for Appellant. 
3mes B. Gibson, Public Defender, and James R. Wulchak and S.C. Van 
’oorhees, Assistant Public Defenders, Daytona Beach, for Appellee. 

ON MOTION FOR REHEARING 
[Original Opinion at 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1909a; 

On Motion for Rehearing at 21 Fla. L. Weekly D2589al 
[Editor’s note: Substituted opinion contains substantial 

hanges; ruling not changed.] 
HARRIS, J.) We again grant rehearing and substitute the fol- 
>wing opinion. 

Jeremiah Johnson moved to suppress the illegal drugs found 
n himself and in his vehicle on the basis that the discovery of 
annabis on a “former” passenger does not justify the wmant- 
:ss search of a vehicle owned by another. The trial court sup- 
ressed the evidence and we reverse. 

It is apparent that the court suppressed the evidence in this 
a e  not because the officer improperly commanded the code- 
:ndant to remove his hands from his pockets, thus revealing the 
annabis (the argument now being made) but rather because the 
3urt believed that it should, under the circumstances of this 
ise. grant Johnson’s motion based on the argument that the 
:arch of the passenger compartment of the vehicle was unau- 
lorized since the occupants were outside the vehicle at the time 
fthearrest. 

I 11 We all agree that this was an incorrect basis for the ruling. In 
’ew York v. Belton, 453 U.S. 454, 459-460. 101 S.Ct. 2860, 
363-2864, 69 L.Ed 2d 768, 774-775 (1981), the United States 
iipreme Court addressed “the question of the proper scope of a 
:arch of the interior of an automobile incident to a lawful custo- 
.al arrest of its occupants” and held “that when a policeman has 
ade a lawful custodial arrest of the occupants of an automobile, 
: m y ,  as a contemporaneous incident of that arrest, search the 
issenger compartment of that automobile.” We do not believe 
.at “the occupants” can avoid the consequence of Belton by 
erely stepping outside the automobile as the officers approach. 

‘L8 Even so, the dissent argues that under the “tipsy coachman 
ile,” the trial court should be upheld because its ruling was 
Sht for another reason. This argument suggests that the offi- 
r‘s request that one of the occupants who had just vacated the 
:hicle remove his hands from his pockets while they engaged in 
:onversation agreed to by that occupant was so coercive that it 
Inverted what had been a consensual encounter into a seizure 
stifying the suppression of all the after-discovered drugs. We 
mply disagree. 

The facts are not disputed. Jeremiah Johnson, appellant here- 
in, was the driver and owner of a vehicle parked in a garage 
located on the top of the Alba Business Building. As officers on 
bicycles approached, the occupants exited the vehicle. One of 
these occupants was Ryan. Officer Berry approached Ryan and 
asked if he could speak to him. Officer Berry testified, “he stated 
sure and at that time he walked toward me and placed his hands in 
his pocket and I asked him if he would mind while I was talkmg to 
him if he would take his hands out of his pocket.” When asked 
why he made this request, Officer Berry responded, “because as 
I went on to explain I did not know him and for safety reasons I- 
if I don’t know him and I didn’t know what he had in his pockets I 
would feel more comfortable if he takes his hands out of his 
pockets. ’ 

In response to this request, Ryan said, “Sure, I’ll empty the 
contents of my pockets.” He then proceeded to empty his pockets 
revealing the cannabis. Ryan was placed under arrest and since 
the officer had just observed him sitting in the passenger seat of 
the automobile, he proceeded to search the passenger compart- 
ment of the vehicle. In the glove compartment, additional drugs 
were found. Because Johnson was the ownerldriver of the vehi- 
cle, he was placed under arrest and a search of his person re- 
vealed even more drugs. 

The dissent suggests that when the officer asked Ryan if he 
would mind removing his hands from his pockets, the consensual 
encounter was converted into a seizure. We disagree. 

In arguing for reversal, the dissent relies on Popple v. Stare, 
626 So. 2d 185 (Fla. 1993). We believe such reliance is mis- 
placed. In Popple, an officer approached a vehicle legally parked 
in a desolate area and “asked” Popple to exit the vehicle. It is 
somewhat difficult from the opinion to determine exactly what 
the officer said to Popple. Although the court uses the term 
‘basked“ in one sentence, it also stated that, “[TI0 insure his 
safety, [Officer] Wilmoth directed Popple to exit the vehicle.” 
Id. at 186. The court also stated that “[tlhe State seeks to justify 
the deputy’s decision to order Popple out of the vehicle . . .” Id. 
at 187. Finally, the court stated: 

Although there is no litmus-paper test for distinguishing a con- 
sensual encounter from a seizure, a significant identifying char- 
acteristic of a consensual encounter is that the officer cannot 
hinder or restrict the person’s freedom to leave or freedom to 
refuse to answer inquiries, and the person may not be detained 
without a well-founded and articulable suspicion of criminal 
activity. [Citation omitted.] This court has consistently held that 
a person is seized if, under the circumstances, a reasonable per- 
son would conclude that he or she is not free to end the encounter 
and depart. [Citation omitted.] Whether chnmctenzed 11s u re- 
quest or an order, we conclude that Deputy Wilmoth ’s direction 
for Popple to exit his vehicle constituted a show of authon’ty 
which . . . a reasonable person under the circumstances would 
believe that he shou[d comply. [Emphasis added.] [Citation 
omitted.] 

Id. at 187-188. 
Because of the limited facts given in Popple, we cannot tell 

whether the officer “asked,” “directed,” “ordered,” or “re- 
quested” Popple to exit the vehicle. Nor can we tell from the 
opinion, although we might be able to tell from the Popple rec- 
ord, the tone of voice used in making the request/order/direction. 
Whatever the deputy said, and however he said it, even if chasac- 
terized as a request, clearly didn’t pass muster. However, in our 
case, it is undisputed the officer merely said, “Would you mind 
removing your hands from your pockets while we talk?” It is 
difficult to imagine how such inquiry could intimidate Ryan into 
emptying his pockets. More importantly, however, while a re- 
quest to exit a vehicle might cause a reasonable person to con- 
clude that he is not free to leave (since he is abandoning his means 
of transportation), the same simply cannot be said of a request to 
remove one’s hands from his pockets during a conversation in 
which he had agreed to participate. The fact that Ryan was not 
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* 
intimidated in this case is perhaps most evident because he did not 
claim that he was nor did the trial court find any intimidation. 
Here, there was no indication that there was anything to prevent 
Ryan from terminating the conversation or to prevent the occu- 
pants from getting back into the automobile and driving away. 

We believe the case that controls this search and seizure issue 
is Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 11 1 S.Ct. 2382, 115 L. Ed. 
2d 389 (1991). In Bostick, the United States Supreme Court held 
that a police officer, even though he has no basis for suspecting 
an individual, may not only request that the individual talk to him 
but may also request such person to submit to a search so long as 
the officer does not convey a message that compliance with the 
request is required. There is nothing in this record, and the trial 
court made no such finding, that the request that Ryan remove his 
hands from his pockets while he and the officer talked conveyed a 
message that compliance was mandated. 

Under &stick, it would even have been appropriate for the 
officer to request that Ryan submit to a search. In this event, had 
Ryan said “Sure, I’ll empty the contents of my pockets” (his 
actual response in this case), the search would have been legal 
under Bosrick. But Officer Berry did not request a search in this 
case. His request was much less intrusive: “Would you mind 
removing your hands from your pockets while we talk?” This 
request, most reasonable under the circumstances, does not 
justify suppressing the drugs found as a result of Ryan’s volun- 
tary compliance with the request. In Bosrick v. State, 593 So. 2d 
494 (Fla. 1992), the Florida Supreme Court, on remand, upheld 
a request far more intrusive on its face than the request made 
herein. 
REVERSED and REMANDED for further action consistent 

with this opinion. (GOSHORN. J . ,  concurs. THOMPSON, J., 
dissents, with opinion.) 

(THOMPSON, J., dissenting.) This case turns upon whether a 
“request” instead of an “order” to remove Ryan’s hands from 
his pockets, “to assure the officers’ safety,’’ constituted a sei- 
zure. Whether the officer’s statement is characterized as a “re- 
quest” instead of as an “order” is not determinative. In my 
opinion, the fact that Ryan was directed to take his hand from his 
pocket caused the consensual encounter to evolve into a seizure. 
Therefore, all the drugs and drug paraphernalia retrieved at the 
scene should have been suppressed. Wong Sun v. United States, 
371 U. S .  471,83 S. Ct. 407,9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963); Woodson 
v. State, 579 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). 

Two uniformed and armed officers on bicycle patrol ap- 
proached Johnson’s car at 3:30 a.m. Johnson’s car, a Honda 
Civic, was legally parked in a parking garage in downtown Or- 
lando. The officers testified that as they approached the vehicle 
they did not see any unusual movement or furtive gestures; they 
did not smell any burning marijuana, or see my contraband. The 
police saw Johnson and Ryan get out of the car along with Ryan’s 
girlfriend. The officers testified that they did not observe any 
behavior that established a well-founded suspicion that either 
Ryan or Johnson had committed, was committing, or was about 
to commit a crime. Therefore, this was not a Terry stop. See 8 
901.151, Fla. Stat. (1993); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U. S .  1,88 S. Ct. 
1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). The officers also testified they 
had no arrest warrants. Therefore, the police had no basis to 
justify a seimre of Ryan or Johnson, and at most could engage in 
a consensual encounter. Floridu v. Royer, 460 U. S .  49 1, 103 S : 
Ct. 1319,75 L. Ed. 2d 229 (1983); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 
2d 380,387 (Fla. 1983). cert. denied, 465 U .  S .  1051,104 S. Ct. 
1330,79 L. Ed. 2d 725 (1984). 

I agree with the majority that under Florida v. Bostick, 501 U. 
S. 429, 111 S. Ct. 2382. I15 L. Ed. 2d 389 (1991), the police 
officer was allowed to ask Ryan to speak with them and to present 
identification, as long as Ryan felt that he could leave at any time 
and that he was not required to submit to the apparent authority of 
the officer. I also agree that the initial encounter was consensual, 

but I do not agree that it remained so. At the time the police offi- 
cer directed Ryan to take his hands from his pockets, he was 
seized because he submitted to the authority of the officer. 

The test to apply to determine if Ryan was seized is whether a 
reasonable person would have believed he was free to go. Cali- 
fornia v. Hodan’ D . ,  499 U. S. 621, 11 1 S .  Ct. 1547, 113 L. Ed. 
26 690 (1991); United States v. Mendenhull. 446 U. S .  544,554, 
100 S. Ct. 1870, 1877,64 L. Ed. 2d 497 (1980) (holding “[A] 
person has been ‘seized’ within the meaning of the Fourth 
Amendment only if, in view of all the circumstances surrounding 
the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was 
not free to leave.”) This court has held that once an officer orders 
a person to remove his or her hand from a pocket, the consensual 
encounter becomes a seizure. Harrison v. State, 627 So. 2d 583 
(Fla. 5th DCA 1993); accord, Gipson v. State, 667 So. 2d 418, 
420 (Fla, 5th DCA 1996). In Hum-son, the appellant was stopped 
on the street by the police, who ordered him to remove his hands 
from his pocket. This court ruled that the consensual encounter 
evolved into a seizure when the officer issued the order. When he 
complied with the order, he was submitting to the show of author- 
ity. Id. at 585. 

Other district courts have reached the same conclusion. See 
Doney v. Stare, 648 So. 2d 799,801 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (hold- 
ing that compliance with officer’s request that appellant spit out 
contents of his mouth was acquiescence to authority, rather than 
consent); Palmer v. State, 625 So. 2d 1303 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 
(holding that abandonment of a razor blade was product of illegal 
stop and thus involuntary because seizure occurred when officer 
told defendant to take his hands out of his pockets); Johnson v. 
State, 610 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (holding that seizure 
occurred when officer told defendant to remove hands from 
pockets and to turn around so that officer could get good look at 
him), rm. denied, 623 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1993); Dees v. State. 564 
So. 2d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) @olding that seizure occurred 
when officer directed defendant to exit vehicle and remove hand 
from pocket); Evans v. State. 546 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 
1989) (holding that cocaine was not voluntarily abandoned where 
defendant, who was sitting on park bench at 4:OO a m . ,  dropped 
cocaine after complying with constitutionally unjustified police 
order to remove hands from pocket for officer’s safety). Contra, 
Sander v. State, 595 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (not im- 
proper for officer to ask defendant to remove hands from his 
pockets). It is clear that an order to remove a hand from a pocket 
is a seizure. The question, then, is whether a request is a seizure. 
I thii it is. 

The Florida Supreme Court in Popple v. Stute, 626 So. 2d 
185, 188 (Fla. 1993), wrote that “[wlhether characterized as a 
request or an order” the act of directing a person to exit his vehi- 
cle “constituted a show of authority which restrained [appel- 
lant’s] freedom of movement because a reasonable person under 
the circumstances would believe that he should comply.” Al- 
though the instant case does not involve the officer ordering a 
driver or passenger from the car, the reasoning still applies. 
Whether the officer’s directive is characterized as a request or an 
order, the result is the same; Ryan submitted to the authority of 
the officer. Ryan was given a Hobson’s choice: obey the officer 
and remove his hands, or disobey the officer and possibly suffer 
dire consequences. Since the officer testified that his request was 
predicated upon his concern for his safety, Ryan was left with no 
alternative. We can only speculate what might have occurred if 
Ryan had not complied. Ryan’s response to the officer, “Sure, 
I’ll empty the contents of my pockets,” makes it obvious he did 
not feel that he could refuse. Perhaps he misunderstood the offi- 
cer or was nervous. Regardless, he complied because of the 
officer’s communication. I am mindful that officers need to be 
careful of citizens who may be armed, but an officer’s concern 
for his safety is not a basis to violate a citizen’s Fourth Amend- 
ment rights. Based upon the prior rulings of this court and Ryan’s 
response, I would affirm the order suppressing the evidence 



2; Flai L: Weekly D1394 DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL, 
8 

because it was obtained as a result of a seizure made in violation 
3f Ryan’s Fourth Amendment rights. 

* * *  
Insurance-Personal injury protection-Insurer who failed to 
pay claim within thirty days was exposed to statutory penalties 
ittendant to an “overdue” claim where insurer did not have 
-emuable proof to establish that it was not responsible for pay- 
ment-Reasonable proof to “question” relationship of insured’s 
mee surgery to automobile accident does not meet statutory 
est-Insurer’s failure to pay claim within thirty days did not 
.elieve insured from obligation to submit to independent medical 
:xamination-Insured’s failure to appear at scheduled IME did 
lot necessarily relieve insurer oPaay further duty to pay-bur- 
ince contract on which insurer relied Pooc its argument that in- 
,ured breached contractual duty was not in record-Factual 
s u e  exists as to whether IME should have been scheduled to 
ccur in city in which insured resided rather than in neighboring 
nunicipality-Error to enter summary judgment in favor of 
IIsurer 

IOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, Appellee. 5th District. Case No. %- 
480. Opinion filed June 6.  1997. Appeal from the Circuit Court for Volusia 
‘ounty, Patrick G. Kennedy, Judge. Counsel: Rick Kolodinslcy and Jason 0. 
rown, of Kolcdinsky, Bcrg, Seia & Tresher, New Smyma Beach, for Appel- 
nt. Lester A. Lewis, Daytona Beach, for Appellee. 
SRIFFIN. J.) This is an appeal of a summary final judgment 
ntered in favor of State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance 
:ompany [“State Farm”] on a claim for PIP coverage and un- 
erinsured motorist benefits. 

On April 1, 1995, Keith Edward Jones [“Jones”] was injured 
1 an automobile accident in New Smyrna Beach, Florida. Jones 
ibmitted an initial application for PIP benefits to his insurer on 
.pril6, 1995. He received PIP and medical payments coverage 
enefits through June 29, 1995, in the mount of $3,412.75. He 
‘as ultimately scheduled for knee surgery on September 28. 
995, for injuries that his orthopaedic surgeon related to the acci- 
x t .  Bills for this surgery were received by State Farm on Octo- 
:r 13,1995. Rather than pay the bill within the thirty-day period 
rovided for in section 627.737, Florida Statutes (1993), because 
F her concern that the surgery might not be related to the acci- 
:nt, State Farm’s adjuster scheduled Jones for a physical exarni- 
Ition on November 30, 1995, in Daytona Beach, Florida. Jones 
:sponded by filing a four-count complaint against the tortfeasor 
id State Farm on November 20, 1995. The complaint sought 
1P benefits and alleged that State Farm had violated section 
l7.737 because of the failpre to make payment on the claim 
ithin the thirty-day period provided for in the statute. Jones also 
ught underinsured motorists benefits. 
Jones did not attend the physical examination scheduled for 

ovember 30, 1995. State Farm thereupon filed several motions 
eking summary judgment, asserting that State Farm had been 
lieved of its obligations to Jones because of his failure to attend 
e November examination. 
Jones opposed the motion by filing a copy of a report from 

nes’ physician which had been received by State Farm on June 
i , 1 995. The report stated in relevant part that : 
IMPRESSION: I am quiet [sic] certain, with [sic] a reasonable 
degree of medical probability that this patient tore his left knee 
anterior cruciate ligament in his accident of4/1/95. 

nes also filed a copy of the adjuster’s deposition, in which she 
ited that she had made the decision to require further examina- 
bn of Jones based on what she thought were indications that his 
ndition was degenerative in nature and not related to the acci- 
nt. The court entered final summary judgment in favor of State 
rm on all of Jones’ claims. 
Although we cannot credit Jones’ contention that State Farm’s 
lure to pay Jones’ surgical bills within thirty days relieved him 
any further obligation under the policy and requires that judg- 
:nt be entered in his favor, we do agree with Jones that the 
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summary judgment in favor of State Farm must be reversed. 
First of all, it is apparent that State Farm did not have reasonable 
proof that it was not responsible for payment of Jones’ surgical 
bills. Despite State Farm’s heroic effort on appeal to catalogue 
any fact or circumstance that might engender a suspicion that the 
knee surgery was not causally related to the accident, the best that 
even State Farm can say is that “State Farm had ‘reasonable 
proof to question the relationship of Jones’ left knee surgery . . . .” This does not meet the statutory test of “reasonable proof to 
establish that the insurer is not responsible for the payment . . + . ” 
Thus, State Farm is exposed to the statutory penalties attendant to 
an “overdue” claim. State Farm does not, however, lose its right 
to contest the claim. For this reason, State Farm’s failure to pay 
the claim in thirty days does not relieve Jones from the obligation 
to submit to an independent medical examination. 

By the same token, we also cannot agree with State Farm that 
Jones’ failure to appear at the earlier IME scheduled relieved it of 
any further duty to pay. The burden of establishing an absence of 
any issue of fact or law that would support a summary judgment 
was on State Farm. To begin with. the insurance contract on 
which State Farm relies for its argument that Jones breached a 
contractual duty is not in the record. Even if we could assume the 
terms of the State Farm policy, Jones’ refusal to appear for the 
November 30 IME was not so “unreasonable” as to void cover- 
age. First, Jones argues that he was entitled to refuse to appear 
for the physical examination requested by State Farm because the 
examination was scheduled to occur in Daytona Beach, even 
though the statute provides that ‘‘[sluch examination shall be 
conducted within the municipality of residence of the insured or 
in the municipality where the insured is seeking treatment.” 
0 627.736(7)(a), Fla. Stat, (1993). Jones is a resident of New 
Smyma Beach and asserts that there are orthopaedic physicians 
in New Smyrna Beach who could have performed the examina- 
tion. State Farm complains this issue was not raised below until 
the day of the hearing on the motion for summary judgment, and 
further contends that it was entitled to schedule the examination 
in Daytona Beach because the statute also provides: 

If the examination is to be conducted within the municipality of 
residence of the insured and there is no qualified physician to 
conduct the examination within such municipality, then such 
examination shall be conducted in an area of the closest proximi- 
ty to the insured’s residence. 

Id. Obviously, the question whether the examination had to be 
held in New Smyma Beach, or whether State Farm could require 
Jones to travel to Daytona Beach, involves issues of fact which 
were not addressed in the parties’ motions or by affidavit. 
Fnelingsdo@vv. Allstate Ins. Co., 497 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 3d DCA 
1986). review denied, 506 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 1987). The burden 
of showing an absence of a material issue of fact is on the movant. 
Thus, this was not an appropriate basis on which to enter the 
summary judgment for State Farm.’ 

The summary final judgment is reversed and the cause re- 
manded for further proceedings. 
REVERSED and REMANDED. (PETERSON, C.J., and 

HARRIS, J., concur.) 

‘Jones further questions the value of such a post-operative examination on 
the issue of whether Jones’ knee injury was related to the accident. Even if 
Jones’ refusal to submit to an examination were considered unreasonable. State 
Farm is not relieved from all liability for PIP payments; rather, the statute pm- 
vides that “[ilf a person unreasonably refuses to submit to an examination, the 
personal injury protection carrier is no longer liable for subsequenr personal 
mjury protection bcncfits.” 5 736.736(70)(b). Fla. Stat. (1993) (emphasis 
added). Under this statute, State Farm would appear to remain liable for PIP 
benefits incurred before the request for an examination was made. See Endall v. 
Allstate Ins. Co.. 472 So. 2d 1291. 1293 (Ha. 2d DCA 198S), rcview denied, 
484 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1986). 

* * *  
BIELAWSKI v. UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION. 5th Dismct. 
,496-2974. June 6, 1997. Adminismive Appeal from the Unemploymnt Ap- 
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gra~idmother, and whcn the grandmothcr was being quesrioncd 
b tlic fathcr’s a:tonicy conccming whether she would force thc 

ing took placc: 
THE COUW: I mi not prcdisposcd to do anything. If tliere is 

sonic reason that I think that is sufficient why thcy shouldn’t see a 
ccrwiii person, tlicn I have 110 reservations in so ordcring it. 

[FATHER’S AITORNEY]: Okay. Your Honor, at this 
point, I would just-I want to makc liis legal position clear. IJis 
legal position is h a t  he docsn’t have to have a reason to say that 
his cliifdren don’t have contact with anyone. He is the parent. 
You are a parent. You have a right, Judge, to tell anybody iiiy 
child-I don’t want him to have contact with so and so. And no 
one, including the Statc of Florida, has the right to tell you, Your 
Honor. as a parent, that you have to have a reason to not want 

c z ildrcn to SCC rclativcs that thcy did not want to see, the follow- 

your childreii to be with someone. 
[GMNDMOTHER’S ATTORNEY]: Your Honor- 
THE COURT: Yeah, you do, because grandparents are cnti- - 

tlcd to visitation rights. 
Thc court thus madc its position clcar that’ thc hthcr must 

justify thc dciiial of visitation with thc grandmothcr. This WJS 
incorrcct. This statute does not provide that a grandparcnt is 
cntitled to visitation based solely upon his or her status as a 
gr,uldparcnt. Althougll thc courts of this statc hnvc opined that 
Florida’s Icgislaturc has adoptcd n policy that visitation betwecn 
grmdparcnts nnd grandchildren is potentially bcncficial, see, 
c.s., Griss v. Grin, 526 So. 2d G97, 699-701 (Fla. 3d DCA) 
(Pcarson, J., concurring), review disniissed, 531 So. 2d 1353 
(Fla. 1988); Dhori v. Melton, 565 So. 2d 1378, 1381 (Fla. 1st 
DCA 1390). thc lcgislative policy is given effect through thc 
adoption of the statute itself, with the result that grandparents4 
uniquely, not aunts, uncles, siblings, friends, next friends, or 
“psychological parents,” qualify for visitation rights with a 
child not their own. As have other states that have construcd 
similar statutes, we hold that there is no presumption that grmd- 
parents are entitled to visitation. See Weybright, 635 N.E. 2d at 
121 (“The ovcrriding concern of the court in any custody or 
visitation decision is the best interest of the child. A grandparent 
whose child has dicd and who seeks visitation under this section 
must show that it is in the bcst intcrcst of the grandchild that the 
visitation rcquest bc grantcd. We reject petitioner’s argument 
that there is somehow a presumption that visitation is proper and 
thc custodial parent must show visitation should be restricted.”); 
Sun(uniello, 850 P.2d at 271 (“In presuming the grandparents 
wcre entitled to visitation, the district court placed the burden of 
proof upon the mother to show that visitafion was not in the child- 
ren’s best interests. The burden of proof is on the grandparents to 
show that it is in the children’s best interests.”); Ridenour v. 
Ridenour, 901 P.2d 770, 774 (N.M. Ct, App.) (“[Tlhere is no 
prcsumcd bcneficial rclationship bctween grandparents and 
children; rathcr, visitation is appropriate only after grandparents 
have met onc of the threshold factors . . . and presented evidence 
to show, among othcr factors, that visitation is in the child’s best 
intercsts.”);ccrt. denied, 898 P.2d 120 (N.M. 1995).’ After 
revicwing this record, we can find no substantial competent 
cvidencc that tlic orrlcrcd visitation is in these children’s bcst 
intcrcsts. In light of this conclusion, it is unnccessary for us to 
reach thc fathcr’s constitutional challenges to the statutc.6 
REVERSED and REMANDED. (DAUKSCH and COBB, 

JJ., concur.) 

‘5 752.01(1), Florida Statutcs (1993). vie Flotida Suprcrnc Court has rcccntly dccided Dcoglc v. Beagle. 678 So. 
2d 1271 (Fh. 1996), and has dcclarcd unconstitutional 5 752.01(1)(e), which 
concerns pnndpannt visitation in the cantext of an intact parental marriage. 
Tlic First District Court of Appeal had uplicld die constitutionality of thc statutc 
rclying substantially on its carlicr decision in Skcro v. Ilrowtl, 559 SO. 2d 381 
(FIa, 1st DCA lm), which found h a t  n grandparciit visitation order did not 
violatc a widowcd iiiotlicr’s constitutional riglit to privacy. As docs this casc. 
&to involvcd 8 752,01(1)(a) and dic situation whcre one of thc child’s parcnls 
is dccerscd. Prom die standpoint of a parent’s fundarncntal right to raise his or 
her cliildrcn, Dcuglc. at 5341, dle distinction bctwcen an intact marriage wlierc 
onc parcnt objccts to visiution and a casc where onc parcnt has died and thc 
surviving parent objccts to visitatioti is hard to disccrn. The First District Court 
a G d  itl Beagle llrst lluy should Irc u u k d  U u  ymc. Judge Wcbstcr. wllo 

concurred in Llcoglc. cvidcnlly saw no distinciioii cidicr, concluding lhat  11 
Bcaglc pnncl was bound by llic COUK’S carlicr dccisioii i n  Skcto. Judgc Wcbst, 
nrguccl, howcver. h a t  S k r ~ o  itsclf had bccn incorrccily dccidcd :id t l i n i  
752.01 unconstitutionally intrudes upon a pnrcnt’s rundnr:icmI riglit to nisc I: 
or hcr child widiout governmental iritcrrccrcnce. 

’It is not clcar whcthcr hcr husb3r.d was d ~ c  cllildrcii’s ~iatuml gnndfadicr. 
‘“Grandparetit” is defincd undcr dic statutc to iiicludc a grcat-gnndpircii 

8 752.001, Fla. Stat. (1993). 
’Cf Steward v. Stcivard, 890 P.2d 777. 752 (Nev. 1775) (coiisiruiii 

grandparent visitation smtute nearly idcntical to Florida’s to cnibody a prcsunil 
tion agabtst grandparent visitation whcn divorced parenu widi full legal rigli, 
to the childrcn agrce that it is not in dic child’s bcst interest to sce ils grandpa: 
ents). 

‘Even Uiough by 1973. every state in the nation had adopted a stafulc prt 
viding for grandparent visitation over the objection of a parent or  parents, Cg” 
thia L. Greene. Grundporerits’ Visitation Rigltrs: I$ the Tide Turnirig?, 12 
Am. Acad. Matrim. L. 51, 52 & n.3 (1991). constitutional challenges to hcs  
shtutcs have apparently just hegun. In the context of the fcdcral riglit to privac 
and its protection of die fundamental right to raisc a child without govcninicnt; 
intcrfcrcncc, most courts that liavc addresscd die issuc havc arialyzcd die visit: 
tion statutcs with what appears to be only a rational basis scrutiny and ha\, 
concluded that tlic Statutes pass the constimtional cliallengc. Builcy V. dftm‘c 
542 N.E. 2d 1015 (lnd. Ct. App. 1989): Sprodlirrg 11, Ilarris, 778 P.2d 36 
(Kan.  Ct. hpp.  1989): Ki/ig v. K I q ,  828 S.W. 2d 630 (Ky.). ccrt. doiicd. 50 
U.S. 941. I 13 S. Ct. 378. 121 L. Ed. 2J 289 (1992): R.T. v. J.E.. 650 A.2d I 

~ ~ 

(N.J. Supcr. Ct. CIi. Div: 1994); kcopicit rh .  Sibley V. Shcyphd. 429 N.E 
2d 1049 (N.Y. 1981); Dohtott V .  Dolmmt. 5813 S . W .  2d 606, 609 (Tcx. C: 
A m .  1979): Canmhcll v. Cartmhcll. 896 P.2d 1535 (Uiah Ct. Ann. 199% 011 

cdir t  applied ;in Intcmicdiatc ‘fomi of scruiiny in  i i c  fasliioii bi t ~ i c  p l w i i i i  
opinion of  Justiccs O’Connor, Kennedy aiid Soutcr iii P l n ~ i n l  P(irort/ioorf ; 
C a w ,  SO5 U.S. 5 3 3 ,  112 S .  Ct. 2791. 120 L. ELI. IJ 674 ( i w z ) .  :lnd. upliok: 
ins [lie law. iicld tliat a s~atutc does not inipcnnissibly inrcrfcre with parcntr 
consdtutioiid rights unless die sbtc  substalitially iiifringcs iipoii tlic h n i i l  
rclationship. Ilcnidori v. Tithey, 857 S.W. 2d 203 (hlo. 1993). Odicr coun 
h v c  applied a strict scrutiny tcst and found visiurioii shtutcs to bc narrow1 
d n w n  to cffcct thc sntcs’ coinpelling intcrests i n  promoting gnndparcnt-grand 
child rclationships. Skcm v. Dro~un. 559 SO. 2d 381 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Rid1 
l low:  Michoef v. IIertrler. 900 P.2d 1144 (Wyo. 1995). Also applying a stric 
scrutiny analysis. howcvcr. the Suprcnic COUR of Gcorgia rcccntly licld Gem 
Ph’S gniidparcnt visilation statute to bc unlawful undcr bolli thc Uiiiicd Slalc 
and the Georgia constitutions. finding insutficicnt cvidcncc to susain tlic notin: 
dint grandparental visitation always SUppORed a child’s healdl or wclrare. a11 
diat, even assuming such bcncfih. dic SUIC cannot forcc visimtion ovcr 111 
parents’ objections without a showing that failing to do so would be Iiarmrul t i  

the child. Brook v. Parkcrson. 454 S.E. 2d 769 (Ga.). ccrr. daticd, 116 S: C: 
377, 133 L. Ed. 2d 301 (1995). Similarly. altcr applying largcly fcdcnil prlnc: 
ples to the statc constimtion, the Tcnnessce Suprcrnc Court, i n  Ilmvk v. IIui!A 
855 S.W. 2d 573 (Tcnn. 1993). held diat Tcnnessce’s grandparctlt visi!atiO. 
Statute vlohtcd p~rents’,constitutionally guaranteed riglit to nisc  dicir clllldrc 
without unwarrantcd state intervention bccausc thc state Iackcd a colnpclll!l 
intcrest in grandparent-grandchild visitation abscnt 3 showing tliat a substanti: 
harm would otlienvise thrcaten a child’s health or welfare. hlorc rcccntly. lh 
Tcnnessee court extended its analysis to tcrmimtc gnndparcnt visiution after 
child’s rnothcr and new adoptive father objectcd. Siinrriou v. Sir?vtro/ls. 90 
S.W. 2d 682 (Tcnn. 1795). 

Criminal law-Search and scizurc-Evidcncc scizcd fronl dc 
fcndant’s vcliiclc and person following arrcst of clclcndarrt’ 
passenger, who had resporidcd to orficcr’s rcqucst that hc rc 
move his  hands fronr his pockcts by cniptyirig conleiits of hi 
pockcts and tllcrcby revealing bag of cannabis-Order grantin; 
motion to suppress is affirrncd-Arrest of dcfccadarit’s plSSCll 
gcr, wliicli led lo search of vcliicle and of dcfccndant, ~ 1 s  ulilm 
ful-Colrscnsual cricountcr bchvccn officer and passcrigcr out 
sidc the vchiclc was transforincd into ail illcgal stop wlicrl office 
asked passciigcr to rcniovc his hands from his pockcls withou 
justification 
STATE OF FLORIDA, Appcllant. v. JEREMIAII JOHNSON, AppcIlCC. 51 
District. CJSC No. 751943. Opinion filed Dcceinbcr 6, 1976. Appcal froin d: 
Circuit Court Tor Oraiigc County. llicotis Droiison. Judgc. Counscl: Robed 
Buttemordi, Attorncy GcncraI, Tallahnsscc. and Barbara Arlciic Fiiik, ASSi! 
[ant Attorncy Gencral, Daytona Bcach. for Appcllant. J a m s  D. Gibson. Publl 
Defender, and S.C. Van Voorhccs. Assistant Public Dcfcndcr. Dayton3 DCad 
for Appcllec. 

ON APPELLEE’S MOTION FOR REI-IEARING 

* * *  

[Original Opinion at 21 Fin. L. Wcckiy D1909bl 
(THOMPSON, J.) W c  grant thc Appcllcc’s motion for rcllcfi: 
ing, withdraw thc opinion filed 23 August 1996, and substill11 
thcrefor the following opinion: 

The Statc of Florida appeals the trial court’s ordcr .gr.uiLill 
Jcrcdah Johnson’s motion to suppress. Joliuson allcgcd in h 
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notion that the cvidence was seized during an illegal search of his 
Jehicle. He argucd to thc trial court that thc arrcst of his passen- 
;er, William Rynn, did not providc probable c a w  to scnrch his 
xhicle since the state did not show that the search was consistcnt 
Nit11 cxceptions to tlic ‘‘warrant rule” of the Fourth Amendrncnt. 
The statc argued that New York v. Belton, 453 U.S. 454, 101 S. 
3.2860. 69 L. Ed. 2d 768 (1981), allowed the police to search 
he passenger compartment of a vchicle incident to thc arrest of a 
‘cccnt occupant. The trial court granted the motion on the ground 
hat, although Ryan was lawfully arrestcd, Belton did not justify 
he search of Johnson’s vehicle. We affirm bccause we find that 
he arrest of Ryan was unlawful. 
Two uniformed and arrncd bicycle patrol officers approached 

ohnson’s car at 3:30 a.m. The car, a I-Ionda Civic, was legally 
larked in a parking garage in downtown Orlando. The officers 
estified that as they approached the vehicle they did not see any 
lnusual movemcnt or furtive gestures; they did not smell any 
lurning marijuana, or see any drugs or contraband. Johnson and 
tyan got out of the car along with Ryan’s girlfriend. The officers 
Estificd that they did not observe any behavior that established a 
{ell-founded suspicion that either Ryan or Johnson had commit- 
?d, was committing, or was about to commit a crime. See § 
01.151. Fla. Stat. (1993); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 
868,20 L. Ed, 2d 889 (1968). 

One of the officers walked up to Ryan and asked if he would 
e willing to talk to the officer. Ryan said he would, but upon 
oing so, placed his hands in his pockets. The officer asked Ryan 
’ he would mind removing his hands from his pockets, Ryan 
nswcred: “Sure, I’ll empty thc contents of my pocket.” He did 
s and revealed a bag of cannabis. After determining that thc 
ibstance was indeed cannabis, the officers placed Ryan under 
rrest and proceeded to search Johnson’s vehicle. In the glove 
3mpartment, the officers found LSD and what they thought to 
e another illegal drug, Rufenol. The officers determined that 
ihnson was the owner of the vehicle and placed him under ar- 
:st. During the search of Johnson’s person, the officers found 
lditional LSD. 

Because the officer had neither a warrant nor grounds to 
:tain Ryan, he could only conduct a consensual cncounter. 
nder Florida v. Bosrick. 501 U.S. 429, 1 1 1 S .  Ct. 2382, 1 15 L. 
d. 2d 389 (1991), the police officer was allowed to ask Ryan to 
leak with him and to present identification, as long as Ryan felt 
at he could leave at any time ‘and that he was not rcquircd to 
ibmit to the apparent authority of the officer. Slate v. Mitchell, 
18 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Here, the initial encountcr 
as consensual, but it did not remain so. This court has held that 
ice an officer orders a person to remove his or her hand from a 
xket, the consensual encounter becomes a seizure. Hariison v. 
ate, 627 So. 2d 583 (Fla, 5th DCA 1993); accord Gipson v. 
are, 667 So. 2d418,420 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). InHarrison, the 
lpellant was stopped on the street by the police, who ordered 
rn to remove his hands from his pocket. This court ruled that 
e consensual encounter evolved into a seizure when the officer 
dered him to remove his hand from his pocket. When he com- 
ied with the order, he submitted to the officer’s show of author- 
I .  627 So. 2d at 585. 
Other district courts have reached the same conclusion. See 

zlmer v. Srure, 625 So. 2d 1303 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (holding 
at abandonment of a razor blade was product of illegal stop and 
3s involuntary because seizure occurred when officer told 
fcndant to take his hands out of his pockets); Johncon v. S m e ,  
0 SO. 2d 581 (Fla, 1st DCA 1992) (holding that seizure oc- 
rred when officer told defendant to remove his hands from his 
ckets and to turn around so that officer could get a good look at 
n), rev. denied, 623 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1993); Dees v. Stote, 564 
* 2d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (holding that seizure occurrcd 
ien officer directed defendant to exit vehicle and remove her 
nd frompocket). The question. then, is whether a “request” is 
:o a seizure. We think it is. 

The Florida Supreme Court in Popple v.  State, 626 SO. 2d 
185, 188 (Fla. 1993), wrote that “[w]hether characterized as a 
rcqucst or an order” the act of directing a person to exit his VC- 
hick” constituted a show of authority which restrained [appel- 
lant’s] freedom of movement because a rensonable person under 
the circumstances would believe that he should comply.” (Em- 
phasis added). In Evans v. Stare, 546 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 
1989), the appellate court was faced with facts similar to this 
case. An officer confronted Evans who was sitting on park bench 
at 4:OO a.m. Id. The officer “asked” Evans to take his hands out 
of his pocket for the officer’s safcty. When Evans complied, a 
packet of cocaine dropped to the ground. The court reversed the 
trial court’s order which denied a motion to suppress evidence. 
The court wrote: 

“Given the realities of the situation and notwithstandirlg the 
policeman‘s contrary statement, it is clear h a t  a reasonable 
person [in the defendant’s situation] would have believed he W V ~  
notfree to [disobey the oflcer].” (Emphasis added). 

id. 
This case turns upon whether compliance with a “request” to 

remove Ryan’s hands from his pockets “to assure the officers’ 
safety” constituted a seizure. We think it was reasonable under 
the circumstances for Ryan to believe he had to comply. Whether 
the officer’s statement was characterized as a “request” or an 
“order” is not determinative. Because Ryan’s freedom and 
movement were restricted without justification, the consensual 
encounter evolved into an illegal stop. Therefore, all the drugs 
and drug paraphernalia retrieved at the scene should have been 
suppressed. Wung Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S. Ct. 
407,9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963); Woodson v. State, 579 So. 2d 381 
(Fla. 5th DCA 1991). The trial court was right, but for the wrong 
reason. Currawuy v. Armour & Co., 156 So. 2d 494, 497 (Fla. 
1963). 

AFFIRMED. (GOSHORN. J., concurs. HARRIS, J., dis- 
sents, with opinion.) 

(HARRIS, J , .  dissenting.) 1 respectfully dissent. 
The court suppressed the evidence in this case not because the 

officer commanded the codefendant to remove his hands from his 
pockets thus revealing the cannabis but rather because the court 
believed that it was improper, under the circumstances of this 
case, for the officers to search the passenger compartment of the 
automobile since the occupants were outside the vehicle at the 
time of the arrest. We all agree that this was an incorrect ruling. 
In New York v. Belton, 453 U.S. 454, 101 S.Ct. 2860,69 L.Ed 
2d 768 (1981), the United States Supreme Court addressed, “the 
question of the proper scope of a search of the interior of an auto- 
mobile incident to a lawful custodial arrest of its occupants” and 
held, “that when a policeman has made a lawful custodial arrest 
of the occupants of an automobile, he may, as a contemporaneous 
incident of that arrest, search the passenger Compartment of that 
automobile.” 453 U.S. at 460, 101 S. Ct, at 2683-2684. We do 
not believe that “the occupants” can avoid the consequence of 
Belton by merely stepping outside the automobile as the officers 
approach. 

Even so, the majority holds that under the “tipsy coachman 
rule,” the trial court should be upheld because its ruling was 
right for another reason. The majority holds that the officer’s 
request that one of the occupants remove his hands from his 
pockets while they engaged in a conversation agreed to by that 
occupant was so coercive that it converted what had been a con- 
sensual encounter into a seizure justifying the suppression of 11 
the after-discovcred drugs. It is on this point that I dissent. 

The facts are not disputed. Jeremiah Johnson, appellant here- 
in, was the driver and owner of a vehicle parked in a garage locat- 
ed on the top of the Alba Business Building. As officers on bicy- 
cles approached, the occupants exited the vehicle. One of these 
occupants was Ryan. Officer Berry approached Ryan and asked 
if he could speak to him. Officer Berry testified, “he stated sure 
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and at that time he walked toward me and placed his hands in his 
pocket and I asked him if he would mind while I was talking to 
him if he would take his hands out of his pockct.” When asked 
why he made this request, Officer Berry responded, “because as 
I went on to explain I did not know him and for safety reasons 1- 
if I don’t know him and I didn’t know what he had in his pockets I 
would feel more comfortable if he takes his hands out of his 
pockets.” 

In response to this request, Ryan said, “sure, I’ll empty the 
contents of my pockets.” He then proceeded to empty his pock- 
ets revealing the cannabis. Ryan was placed under arrest and 
since the officer had just observed him sitting in the passenger 
seat of the automobile, he proceeded to search the passenger 
compartment of the vehicle. In thc glove compartment, addition- 
a l  drugs were found. Because Johnson was the ownerldriver of 
the vehicle, he was placed under arrest and a search of his person 
revealed even more drugs. 

The majority takes the position that when the officer asked 
Ryan if he would mind rcmoving his hands from his pockets, thc 
consensual encounter was converted into a seizurc. I disagree. 
The majority’s reliance on Popple v. State, 626 So. 2d 185 (Fla. 
1993), in my view, is misplaced. In Popple, an officer ap- 
proached a vehicle legally parked in a desolate area and “asked” 
Popple to exit the vehicle. Requiring Popple to exit his vehiclc is 
far more intrusive than merely asking him to remove his hands 
from his pockets and may well have hindered or restrictcd his 
freedom to leave or freedom to refuse to answer inquiries. In our 
case, there was nothing to prevent Ryan from terminating the 
conversation or to prevent the occupants from getting back into 
the automobile and driving away. 

In Popple. the court observed, “[dluring a consensual en- 
counter a citizen may either voluntarily comply with a police 
officer’s rcquests or chose to ignore them.” Popple, 626 So. 2d 
at 186. Thecourt did state: 

Whether characterized as a request or an order, we conclude tliat 
Deputy Wilmoth’s direction for Popple to exit his vehicle consti- 
tuted a show of authority which restrained Popple’s freedom of 
movement because a reasonable person under the circumstances 
would believe that he should comply. 

Id. at 188. . 
But there is a distinction between “would you get out of your 

car?” which implies a command and “would you mind removing 
your hands from your pocket while we talk?” In the latter case, 
Ryan could merely havc said that he no longcr wished to talk to 
theofficer and walked away. 

This w e  is controlled by Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 
111S.Ct.2382,115L. Ed. 2d389(1991). InBosridc, theunited 
States Supreme Court held that a police officer, even though he 
has no basis for suspecting an individual, may not only request 
such individual talk to him but may also request such person to 
submit to a search so long as the officer does not convey a mes- 
sage that compliance with the request is required. There is noth- 
ing in this record, and the trial court made no such finding, that 
the request that Ryan remove his hands from his pockets while he 
and the officer talked conveyed a message that compliance was 
mandated. 

Under Bosridc, it would have been appropriate for the officer 
to even request Ryan submit to a search. Officer Berry did not 
request a search. His request was much less intrusive: “would 
you mind removing your hands from your pockets while wc 
talk.” I do not believe that this simple request, most reasonable 
under the circumstances, justifies suppressing the drugs found as 
a result of Ryan’s voluntary compliance with the requcst. In 
Bostick v. Sfare, 593 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 1992), the Florida Suprernc 
Court, on remand, upheld a request far more intrusive on its face 
than the rcquest made herein. 

Torts-Dismissal-Plaintiff allegedly injurcd by attcnding facili- 
ty that was advcrtiscd as upscalc weight-loss clinic but was in 

* * *  

rcality a psyclliatric facility-Error to dismiss action against 
psychiatric facility, physician and facility’s marketing agcnt 011 
ground of plaintiff‘s failure to comply with mcdical malpracticc 
presuit requircments-Acts alleged in coiiiplaint for brcach of  
contract, fraud, false imprisonment, intentional infliction 01 
cmotional distrcss,’defamation, conspiracy to defraud, and loss 
of consortium did not arise out of the rendcring of or failure to 
rcnder medical carc services 
KAREN ROBBINS and ELDON MAX ROBBINS. Appellants, v. ORLANDO, 
H.M.A., INC.. etc., et al . .  Appellees. 51h District. Case No. 95-154. Opiniori 
filed December 6, 1996. Appeal from the Circuit Court for Orange County. 
Lawrence R.  Kirkwood. Judge. Counsel: Francis R.  Lakel, Tampa, for Appel- 
lants. Alan J .  Landerman of Parker, Goodwin. McGuire, Burke, Landerman & 
Dabold, P.A., Orlando, for Appellee, Orlando H.M.A., Inc., d/b/a University 
Behavioral Ccnter. Lawrcncc E. Brownskin of LAW Officcs of Lawrcnce E. 
Brownskin, and F. burens  Brock and C n i g  A. Brand of Runibcrper Kirk L? 
Caldwcll, Miami, for Appellee, Riaz Mazcuri. M.D.  
(THOMPSON, J.) Karen Robbins (“Robbins”) and her hus- 
band, Eldon Robbins, appeal the trial court’s dismissal with prej- 
udice of their seven count complaint against Orlando H . M . A . ,  
Inc. d/b/a University Behavioral Centcr (“UBC”), Riaz Maz- 
curi, M.D., and Steve Hamparian, for failure to comply with the 
presuit screening requirements of Chapter 766, Florida Statutes 
(1993). Robbins contends that the alleged acts of the defendants 
did not arise out of a medical malpractice claim but from inde- 
pendent intentional torts, and that she was therefore not required 
to comply with Chapter 766. We reverse because the complaint 
allcgcs intentional torts rather than medical malpracticc. 

Whether a plaintiff must give the requisite presuit noticc 
outlined in Chapter 766 is fact-dependent. Foshce v. Healtli 
Managentent Associates, Itic., 675 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 5th DCA 
1996). The allegations of the complaint, which must bc taken as 
true, determine the facts. Id. “It is up to the court to decide from 
the allegations in the complaint whether the claim arises ‘out of 
the rendering of, or the failure to render, mcdical care or servic- 
es.’ “Id .  (quoting 0 766.106, Fla, Stat. (1989)). 

Robbins filcd a seven count complaint against the appellees, 
alleging breach of contract, fraud, false imprisonment, inten- 
tional infliction of emotional distress, defamation, conspiracy to 
defraud, and loss of consortium. The complaint allcges that 
Robbins, a resident of Michigan, was overweight when shc saw 3. 
television commercial for an upscale wcight loss clinic callcd 
New Image. The advertisement ncver mentioned that New Image 
was a psychiatric facility. UBC and Dr. Mazcuri dcvelopcd, 
broadcasted, and authorized the use of the New Image advcrtisc- 
mcnt. Robbins telephoncd for information about thc program and 
Hamparian, a marketing agent for UBC, returned her call. When 
she told him her medical insurance would not pay for a weight 
loss program or cosmetic surgery, he obtained all of her medical 
insurance information and secured payment for her stay at the 
clinic. Robbins later learned that in order to obtain thc payments 
from the insurance company, Dr. Mazcuri and UBC misin- 
formed the insurance company that Robbins suffercd from “ma- 
jor depression, severe eating disordcr, bulimia and dcpendent 
personality traits.” Robbins was never asked to submit to a 
physical examination or to relcase hcr medical rccords to Dr. 
Mazcuri or UBC before they informcd the insurance company Of 
their diagnosis. 

UBC provided Robbins with a round-trip ticket to Orlando, 
where a limousine provided by UBC picked her up. When she 
arrived at the facility, she did not sec any signs for New Image 
but she did sec a sign for “University Bchavioral Center.” The 
facility was a concretc block and brick building with a barbed 
wire fence. She entercd the facility ,and was askcd to sign papcrs. 
which she did, thinking they wcrc insurancc fornis. Before clinic 
personnel cxamincd her or took hcr medical history, shc was 
givcn thrcc shots and pills which causcd nausca and vomiting. 
She was taken to dinncr and then to thc “unit” for thc evcning. 
When she stated that she was in thc wrong place and that she 
wanted to leave, she was told by a nurse that evcrylhing would bc 
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PamlecOmm’n. 643 So, 2d 668,671 (ma. 1st DCA 1994). 
HERNANDEZ v. STATE. 3rd District. #96-816. August 21. 1996. A p p l  
under ma. R. App. P. 9.140(g) from the Circuit Court for Dade County. Af- 
f i d .  i h t l e r  v. Stdr. 627 So. 2d 1328 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). rev. denied. 639 
s0.M 984 (ma. 1994). 

* * *  
Criminal Iaw-Search and seizure-Vehicle-Officers who saw 
defendant and passenger exit from vehicle as they approached 
were authorized to search passenger compartment of vehicle 
upon arrest of defendant for possession of cannabis which hc 
pulled out of his pocket in response to officer’s request that he 
remove his hands from his pocket-Error to grant motion to 
suppress drugs found in vehicle on ground that defendant was 
standing outside vehicle at time of his arrest-Officer was per- 
mitted to walk up to defendant and ask if he would be willing to 
talk-Request that defendant remove hands from his pocket was 
reasonable in order to assure officer’s safety-Nothing in record 
indicates that defendant was under the impression that he was 
required to consent to the removal of his hands from his pocket 
STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellant, v. JEREMlAH JOHNSON. Appellee. 5th 
District. Case No. 95-1943. Opinion filed August 23, 1996. Appeal from the 
Circuit Court for Orange County, Thcotis Bronson, Judge. Counsel: Robert A. 
Bumnvorth, Attorney General, Tallahassee, and Barbara Arlene Fink, Assis- 
tant Attorney General. Daytona Beach, for Appellant. James B. Gibson, Public 
Defender, and S.C. Van Voorhees, Assistant Public Defender, Daytona Beach, 
for Appellee. 
(HARRIS, J.) Two police officers approached a parked vehicle 
in which appellant, Jeremiah Johnson, was sitting on the driver’s 
side and William Ryan was sitting on the passenger’s side. The 
occupants exited the vehicle upon the approach of the officers. 
One of the officers walked up to Ryan and asked if he would be 
willing to talk to him. Ryan responded in the affirmative but upon 
doing so, placed his hands in his pockets. The officer asked Ryan 
if he would mind removing his hands from his pockets. Ryan 
answered: “Sure, I’ll empty the contcnts of my pockets.” He did 
so and revealed a bag of cannabis. After determining that the 
substance was indeed cannabis, the officers placed Ryan under 
arrest and proceeded to search the vehicle. In the glove cornpart- 
ment, the officers found LSD and what they thought to be another 
illegal drug, Rohypnol. The officers determined that Johnson 
was the owner of the vehicle and placed him under arrest. During 
the search of Johnson’s person, the officers found additional 
LSD. Johnson moved to suppress the drugs, and the trial court 
granted the motion, on the basis that Ryan was standing outside 
the vehicle at the time of his arrest and, therefore, a search of the 
vehicle was unjustified. 

Although the passengers had exited the vehicle upon the offi- 
cers’ approach, the logic of New Yurk v. Belton, 453 U.S. 454, 
101 S.Ct. 2860, 69 L.Ed.2d 768 (1981)’ and Srare Y. Smith, 662 
So, 2d 725 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). authorize the search of the 
passenger compartment of a vehicle upon the arrest of an occu- 
pant of that vehicle when the officers see the occupants exit the 
vehicle as they approach. 

It might be argued that when Ryan removed his hands from his 
pockets revealing the cannabis, he was responding to apparent 
police authority and thus what had been a consensual stop was 
converted into an illegal seizure. See generally Gipson v. Slate, 
667 So. 2d418 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), and Hum*son v. Stare, 627 
So 2d 583 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). We hold, however, that there 
can be a constitutional consent to the removal of hands from the 
pockets as well as a constitutional consent to answer questions or 
to submit to a search. 

This merely requires an analysis under Florida v. Bostick, 50 1 
U.S.429,111 S. Ct. 2382,115 L. Ed. 2d389(1991). InBosiick, 
the court held that a police officer, even though he has no basis 
for suspecting an individual, may nevertheless request that such 
person talk to him and may even request that such person submit 
to a search so long as the officer does not convey a message that 
compliance with the request is required. Here, unlike Gipson and 
Harrison in which the defendants were roM to remove their hands 

from their pockets, the officer merely requested that Ryan re 
move his hands from his pockets. This request was certainl) 
reasonable in order to assure the officers’ safety since there wa. 
no authority to search for weapons during this admittedly consen- 
sual stop. 

There is nothing in the record to indicate, nor did the trial 
court find, that Ryan was under the impression that he was re- 
quired to consent to the removal of his hands from his pockets. 
Consistency requires that we recognize a distinction between J 
request and a command even when the removal of the hands from 
the pockets is the subject of inquiry. 
REVERSED AND REMANDED for further action consis- 

tent with this opinion, (GOSHORN, J., concurs. THOMPSON, 
J., dissents, with opinion,) 

(THOMPSON. J., dissenting.) I respectfully dissent. This case 
turns upon whether compliance with a “request” instead of an 
“order” to remove Ryan’s hands from his pockets “to assure the 
officers’ safety” constituted a seizure. Whether the officer’s 
statement is characterized as a “request” instead of as an “or- 
der” is not determinative. The fact that Ryan’s freedom and 
movement were restricted caused the consensual encounter to 
evolve into an illegal stop. Therefore, all the drugs and drug 
paraphernalia retrieved at the scene should have been sup- 
pressed. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471. 83 S. Ct. 
407,9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963); Wuodson v. State, 579 SO. 2d 381 
(Fla. SthDCA 1991). 

When the two uniformed and armed officers approached 
Johnson’s car at 3:30 a.m., they were on bicycle patrol, John- 
son’s car, a Honda Civic, was legally parked in a parking garage 
in downtown Orlando. The officers testified tha: as they ap- 
proached the vehicle they did not see any unusual movement or 
furtive gestures; they did not smell any burning marijuana, or see 
any drugs or illegal contraband in clear view. Johnson and Ryan 
did get out of the car along with Ryan’s girlfriend, The officers 
testified that they did not observe any behavior that established a 
well-founded suspicion that either Ryan or Johnson had commit- 
ted, was committing, or was about to commit a crime. See § 
901.151, Fla. Stat. (1993); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S .  Ct. 
1868, 20 L.Ed. 2d 889 (1968). The officers also testified they 
had no arrest warrants. Therefore, the police had no basis to 
justify a seizure of Ryan or Johnson. The only thing the officers 
could do was to conduct a consensual encounter. 

I agree that under Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 1 1  1 S. Ct. 
2382,115 L. Ed. 2d 389 (1991), the police officer was allowed to 
ask Ryan to speak with him and to present identification, as long 
as Ryan felt that he could leave at any time and that he was not 
required to submit to the apparent authority of the officer. Sfale 
v. Mitchell, 638 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 26 DCA 1994). Here, the 
initial encounter was consensual, but it did not remain so. This 
court has held that once an officer orders a person to remove his 
or her hand from a pocket, the consensual encounter becomes a 
seizure. Harrison v. State, 627 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); 
accord Gipson v. Sfafe, 667 So. 2d 418, 420 (Fla. 5th DCA 
1996). In Harrison, the appellant was stopped on the street by the 
police, who ordered him to remove his hands from his pocket. 
This court ruled that the consensual encounter evolved into a 
seizure when the officer ordered him to remove his hand from his 
pocket. When he complied with the order, he was submitting to 
the show of authority. Id. at 585. Other district courts have 
reached the same conclusion, See Paltner v. Stare, 625 SO. 2d 
1303 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (holding that abandonment of a razor 
blade was product of illegal stop and thus involuntv because 
seizure occurred when officer told defendant to take his hands OU1 
of his pockets); Johnson v. Sfate, 610 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 
1992) (holding that seizure occurred when officer told defendan1 
to remove his hands from his pockets and to turn around so thaf 
officer could get a good look at him), rev. denied, 623 S O .  2d 495 
(Fla. 1993); Dees v. Stare, 564 So, 2d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990: 
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(holding that seizure occurred when officer directed defendant to 
cxit vehicle and remove her hand from pocket); Evans v. State, 
546 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (holding that cocaine was 
not voluntarily abandoned where defendant, who was sitting on 
park bench at 4:OO a.m.. dropped cocaine after complying with 
zonstitutionally unjustified police order to remove hands from 
pocket for officer’s safety). It is clear that an order to remove a 
hand from a pocket is a seizure. The question, then, is whether a 
request is a seizure. I think it is. 

The Florida Supreme Court in Popple v. Stole, 626 So. 2d 
185, 188 (Fla. 1993). wrote that “[wlhether characterized as a 
request or an order” the act of directing a person to exit his vehi- 
:le “constituted a show of authority which restrained [appel- 
lant’s] freedom of movement because a reasonable person under 
:he circumstances would believe that he should comply.” Wheth- 
:r characterized as a request or an order, the result is the same; 
Ryan submitted to the authority of the officer. I would affirm the 
xder suppressing the evidence. 

Zivil procedure-Corporations-Default judgment against 
lapanese corporation quashed based on finding that service of 
3roceS through an American corporation which acted as Japa- 
lest corporation’s distributor was ineffective-Two corpora- 
ions were not shown by affidavit or evidence to be other than 
.eparate and independent corporations-Neither American 
*orporation nor employee served by plaintiffs had general au- 
hority to act for Japanese corporation-Unrefuted affidavit 
‘urther established that Japanese corporation had no office or 
igent in United States and did not do business in state in which 
amployee of American corporation was served 
’AITO CORPORATION. Appellant, v. JOHN FERRlS and LYNN FERRIS, 
tc,. ct al., Appellees. 5th District. Case NO. 96-197. Opinion filed August 23, 
996. Non-Final Appcal from the Circuit C O U ~  for Orange County. Jeffords D. 
filler, Judge. Counsel: Anthony Deglomine, III and Nicholc M. Mooney of 
)can, Mead, Egenon. Bloodwonh. Capouano & Bozarth, P.A.. Orlando, for 
.ppcllant. Robin M. Orosz of Maher, Gibson and Guiley, P.A.. Orlando, for 
.pptllees. 
SHARP, W., J.) Taito Corporation appeals from an order of the 
id court which denied its motions to quash service of process 
nd set aside a default judgment entered against it. This court has 
irisdiction.’ Because we find that the record completely fails to 
stablish personal service of process over Taito.* We reverse. 

After a default was entered against Taito, but before entry of 
ie judgment, Taito moved to dismiss the default and a hearing 
’as held. Originally, the judge granted Taito’s motion, but the 
ext day, appellees filed an objection and a second hearing was 
tld. After this hearing, the trial court reversed itself, and Taito 
rought this appeal. At neither hearing was any testimony ad- 
uced, and the evidence in the record on appeal consists solely of 
ffidavits and depositions. 

The record on appeal establishes that Taito is a Japanese cor- 
oration. It has no office, officers nor agents in this country. 
aito America was shown to be an Illinois based corporation 
which acts as a distributor for Taito. The two were not shown by 
ffidavit or evidence to be other than separate and independent 
Jrporations. The record also established without dispute that 
aito manufactured printed circuit boards in Japan. Taito Amer- 
‘a imported some circuit boards from Taito, to Illinois, and in- 
all& one of them in a game. Taito America sold the product to 
leveland Coin Company, its distributor. Cleveland then sold 
.c game to the Marriott or to another party who then sold it to the 
larriott. The game was eventually installed in an arcade ride in 
lorida. The plaintiff‘s minor son, John Ferris, was injured in an 
xident involving the arcade ride, which was the germination 
lr this lawsuit. 
The Ferrises tried to serve Taito through Taito America. They 

.wed Bianca Villareal, an employee of Taito America, in Illi- 
)is, pursuant to Section48.194. On April 26,1995 a default was 
ltcred against Taito. Taito was so informed, and on September 

* * *  

6, 1995, Taito America faxed a copy of the summons to Taito in 
Japan. 

Taito filed a motion to set aside the default and to quash ser- 
vice of process on October 2, 1995. Ultimately the trial court 
denied the motions. It may have relied upon the fact that there 
was a considerable delay between the time Taito learned of the 
default and the time it moved to have it set aside. We think that is 
immaterial in this case. 

The record on appeal affords no constitutional or statutory 
basis for concluding that Taito was properly served in Illinois. 
Service on an agent or employee for a different corporation in 
Illinois is insufficient service on Taito. See Valdostu Milling CO. 
v. Garretson, 54 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1951); Southeat Mail Trans- 
port, Inc. v. Amoco Oil Co., 402 So. 2d 522,524 (Fla. 1st DCA 
1981); Dude Erection Service, Inc. v. S im Crane Service, Inc., 
379 So. 2d 423 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980). For purposes of validating 
service on a corporation, a business agent must have the general 
authority to act for the corporation. Id. Neither Taito America 
nor its employee meets these requirements. Affidavits offered 
for Taito established that Taito has no office in the United States, 
and it does not do business in Illinois, The Ferrises failed to 
controvert any of these facts by affidavit or depositions. Nor did 
they establish any basis to conclude that Taito and Taito of Arne- 
rica are anything other than separate corporations. Mere status as 
a parent corporation is ineffective to establish long-arm juris- 
diction, Qualley v. International Air Serv. Co.. 595 So. 2d 194, 
196 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). 

We conclude that service of process in this case was not prop- 
erly made on Taito, in Illinois. Thus, the default judgment must 
be vacated and service of process quashed. See Huguenor v. 
Huguenor, 420 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982): Bache, Hakey, 
Stuart, Shields, Inc. v. Mendoza. 400 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 3d DCA 
1981); Dade Erection Service, at 426. We do not reach, nor 
should the trial court have reached, the issues of excusable ne- 
glect, due diligence and meritorious defenses, vel non. Taito was 
not properly served with process. Accordingly the default judg- 
ment cannot stand. 

REVERSED. (GRIFFIN and THOMPSON, JJ.. concur.) 

’This court has jurisdiction under Florida Rule of Appellate Proeedurc 
9.130(a)(3)(C)(iv) and (a)($) (set aside default). See Khubuni v. Mikulic, 620 
So. 2d 800,801 (Fla, 2d DCA 1993); Monte Campbelt Cmne 0.. Inc. v. Han- 
cock, 510 So. 2d 1104. 1105 (Ma. 4th DCA 1987). See also Ha. R. App. P. 
9.130(a)(3)(C)(i) (quash service of process); local No. 66 Concrefc Products 
and Muttrial Yard Workers v. Dennis, 453 So. 2d 1138 (ma. 4th DCA 1984). 

’Incidentally. the basis for exercising pemnal jurisdiction over Taito in 
Florida is not clear either. but this point was not raised or argued by the padcs. 
See Burger King COT. v. Rudztwie 471 US. 462, 105 S.Ct. 2174. 85 
L.Ed.2d 528 (1985); Kulko v. CuliJomia Superior Coun. 436 U.S. 84. 92.98 
S.Ct. 16W. 1696-1697. 56 L.m. 2d 132 (1978); lnternationd Shot a. V. 
Wahingron. 326U.S.310,66S.Ct.  154.90L.Ed.2d95(1945). 

* * *  
Injunctions-Dissolution of marriage-No abuse of discretion in 
finding that there was danger of dissipation of marital funds, or 
in entering injunction to preserve status quo, in view of wife’s 
conduct in revoking trust that had controlled lottery proceeds for 
preceding six years, emptying parties’ joint safe deposit box of 
all documents relating to lottery winnings and trust documents, 
denying husband access to documents, and denying that husband 
had claim to future proceeds 
LINDA PIERCE LEONARD. Appcllant. v. JOHN MARK LEONARD, A p  
pellee. 5th District. Case No. 96-625. Opinion filed August 23. 1996. Non- 
Final Appeal from h e  Circuit Coun for Flagltr County, Kim C. Himmond. 
Judge. C o u n ~ l :  Horace Smith, Jr.. of MOMCO, Smith, Hood. Perkins, Loucks 
& Stout, Daytona Beach. for Appcllant. James L. Rose of Rice and Rose. P.A.. 
Daytona Beach, for Appellce. 
(THOMPSON, J.) We affirm the temporary injunction. 

section 61.1 1, Florida Statutes (1995). which provides: 
Injunctions in marital dissolution cases are provided for by 

When either party is about to remove himsclf or herself or his or 


